IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Case Number: 2008-KA-02054-COA

T

CHAD BOOKER

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

vs.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

Trial Judge:

Honorable Henry L. Lackey
Circuit Court Judge
Post Office T
Calhoun City, Mississippi 38916

Attorneys for State of Mississippi:

Honorable Jim Hood
Attorney General
Post Office Box 220

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Chad Booker, who was the Defendant in the trial court and who is the Appellant in this appeal, presents the following issues for review:

- ISSUE I:** The trial court committed reversible error when it denied Defendant Chad Booker's motion for a directed verdict at the close of the State's case-in-chief, and the trial court committed reversible error when it denied Defendant Chad Booker's motion for judgment of acquittal at the close of the Defendant's case-in-chief, and the trial court committed reversible error when it failed to grant a judgment of acquittal notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV).
- ISSUE II:** The trial court committed reversible error by failing to properly instruct the jury.
- ISSUE III:** The trial court committed reversible error when it allowed Brenda Morgan to offer opinion evidence over the objection of Defendant Chad Booker.
- ISSUE IV:** The trial court committed reversible error in admitting the testimony of Shade White.
- ISSUE V:** The trial court committed reversible error by refusing to admit evidence Chad Booker sought to introduce under Rule 404 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence.
- ISSUE VI:** The trial court committed reversible error by admitting testimony from Keith White relating to David White's cap which was found inside the Rhino.

This Court should enter an order reversing the judgment of the trial court and discharging Chad Booker from all criminal charges in the death of David White. Chad Booker was found guilty of "heat of passion" manslaughter, even though there was no evidence whatsoever to establish essential elements of the offense – the undisputed and uncontradicted evidence merely establishes that Chad Booker punch David White in the head with his fist. Based upon the undisputed and uncontradicted evidence, Chad Booker was entitled to a judgment of not guilty as a matter of law.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. *THE NATURE OF THE CASE, THE COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS, AND THE DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW*

Chad Booker was indicted and charged with the “deliberate design” murder of David White in violation of MISS. CODE ANN. §97-3-19(1)(a) (Supp. 2004).¹ [R. 1; E. 11.] The indictment was docketed as Criminal Case Number TK-07-043 in the Circuit Court of Tippah County, Mississippi. [R. 1; E. 11.] A hearing on pretrial motions was conducted by the trial judge (Third Circuit Court District Judge Henry L. Lackey) on November 17, 2008. [T. 7.] Chad Booker was tried before a Tippah County jury on November 18-21, 2008, and, on November 21, 2008, the jury returned the following verdict: “We the jury find the Defendant, Chad Booker, guilty of manslaughter.” [R. 244, 271; E. 74; T. 38, 793.]

Chad Booker filed the *Defendant’s Motion for Judgment of Acquittal Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the alternative a New Trial* on November 26, 2008. [R. 249; E. 77]. Chad Booker filed the *Defendant’s Amended Motion for Judgment of Acquittal Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the alternative a New Trial* on December 1, 2008. [R. 258; E. 86.] The trial court entered an order on December 3, 2008, denying the *Defendant’s Amended Motion for Judgment of Acquittal Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the alternative a New Trial*. [R. 408; E. 95.]

Following a sentencing hearing conducted on December 3, 2008, the Circuit Court of Tippah County entered an order finding that Chad Booker was guilty of the felony criminal offense of manslaughter and sentenced Chad Booker to twenty (20) years in the custody of the Mississippi

¹In this brief, citations to the Record will be denominated as “R.” followed by the appropriate page number, citations to the Record Excerpts will be denominated as “E.” followed by the appropriate page number, and citations to the trial Transcript will be denominated as “T.” followed by the appropriate page number.

Department of Corrections with ten (10) years suspended, and a fine of Twenty-five Thousand Dollars (\$25,000.00) was also imposed. [R. 272; E. 76.]

Chad Booker filed his *Notice of Appeal* on December 3, 2008. [R. 409; E. 97.]

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENT FOR REVIEW

Chad Booker, a 27-year-old combat veteran of the Battle of the Karbala Gap (where the Third Infantry Division defeated Saddam Hussein's Republican Guard during the 2003 invasion of Iraq), grew up in the Palmer Community of Tippah County, and had an auto body shop located on the property of his parents (Bobby "Buster" Booker and Fredia Booker) at the intersection of County Road 813 and County Road 817.² [T. 562, 565-567, 569.] Down the road from the Booker property, David Keith White lived at 420 County Road 817, next door to his father, 61-year-old Hilburn David White, whose home was at 430 County Road 817.³ [T. 213, 305.] The White's operated an ATV repair shop behind David White's home. [T. 305.]

After being discharged from the Army with the rank of sergeant in August 2005, Chad Booker enrolled at Northeast Community College where he studied radiology.⁴ [T. 568-569.] While a student at Northeast CC, Chad met and became friends with Tyler Medlin. [T. 495.] On Saturday, March 10, 2007, Tyler Medlin stopped by Chad's shop to visit. [T. 495.] Chad had a Mustang at the shop which had a clutch problem, and Chad and Medlin took the Mustang for a drive on County Road 813 to test the clutch. [T. 496.] Chad and Medlin made two round-trips in the Mustang, driving

²The Palmer community is situated approximately midway between Blue Mountain and Ripley in Tippah County.

³David Keith White will hereinafter be referred to as "Keith White," as he is also referred to in the trial transcript. Keith White's father, Hilburn David White, is the decedent in this case and will hereinafter be referred to as "David White," as he is referred to in the indictment and in the trial transcript.

⁴Hereinafter in this brief, Chad Booker may be referred to simply as "Chad."

from Booker's shop (located at the intersection of County Road 813 and County Road 817) to the Palmer Baptist Church, where they turned around. [T. 496, 570-571.]

According to Medlin, Chad was testing the clutch by attempting to shift through the gears but was never able to get the car past second gear because after shifting "from second to third, it would slip back down into second gear" and "every time we would go to third gear, it would slip out of third and go to second gear" [T. 505-506.] Chad also testified that the Mustang would not go into third gear, and, because of that, "the engine was probably revving up" [T. 661, 666.] Chad testified he "was trying to get the car to go into third gear" and was driving approximately 50 miles-per-hour ("Fifty, honestly.") [T. 571, 572.] Medlin testified their speed was "50 miles an hour tops." [T. 497.] Even though Chad testified that "the engine was probably revving up," in their testimony both Chad and Tyler Medlin denied that the Mustang was excessively or unusually loud. [T. 498, 662.]

Keith White, however, testified that he and his father, David White, were inside their shop when they heard the Mustang, that the Mustang "was loud," and that he believed the Mustang was traveling "70, 80 mile an hour" when it "came by the end of the driveway." [T. 217, 218, 219.] Keith White testified that "it made us mad that it went by that fast" and that his father, David White, stated he would stop the Mustang if it came back. [T. 218-219.] Keith White testified that when the Mustang came back, he and his father were in their shop, that the shop was close to the road (described as: "Probably the distance of this courtroom."), and that when they heard the Mustang that "[David White] just waved his arm and they stopped in the middle of the road." [T. 219.]

Tyler Medlin testified:

On the second pass, [David] White came running out of his house, had mayonnaise over his face. It looked like he had just ran out of the kitchen screaming, Not on my God damn road. We slowed down to see what was wrong with the car. We figured something might have fell out of the car.

[T. 496.] Medlin testified: "We stopped in the middle of the county road. Mr. White pursued us. He was cussin', talking down to us like we were kids pretty much." [T. 496] Medlin testified that David White "just continued to cuss us." [T. 496-497.] Medlin testified:

[David White] said, Not on my God damn road. He just kept saying it over and over again, and Mr. Booker, Chad said, Mr. White, if you have a problem, you can call the law.

[T. 497.] Medlin testified:

[David White] was angry and frustrated. He was just cussin' and screaming at us, talking down like we had done something, and my terms, we did not really do anything that was wrong.

[T. 497.]

Keith White testified he was unable to hear any of the conversation between David White and Chad Booker. [T. 220.] Chad testified:

Mr. White said – first he said, Slow down. Slow down. I just screeched the car and stopped, and I said, Hey, bud. What's up? He said – because I was puzzled. ... and I said, We're just test driving this old car. He said, Not on my damned road, and that's how Mr. White said it. I said, Mr. White, if you've got a problem with that, I'm not going to argue with you. Call the law because I felt that it was nothing that I had done wrong.

[T. 571.] Chad's testimony was corroborated by Medlin, who testified that Chad was "[v]ery calm, very relaxed" and that Chad "just told him Mr. White, if you have a problem, call the law." [T. 498.] Medlin testified that although David White was using profanity to Chad, that Chad did not use any profanity. [T. 515.] Notably, Keith White testified that David White would 'cuss' and use profanity when he was mad. [T. 252.] Keith White testified that after the Mustang pulled off that David Keith White went into his house "to call the law," but no law enforcement officers came out there that day – in fact, the law enforcement officers told David White they would not come out. [T. 221.]

The incident between Chad Booker and David White was not the first time the Whites had taken it upon themselves to police County Road 813. Keith White testified that on one occasion he

got onto a four-wheeler and chased a 16-year-old boy over a mile down the road to fuss at the boy for speeding. [T. 263-264] Chad Booker also testified that he'd seen "many instances" of the Whites attempting to police the road, and that "[a] few days before he stopped me, I saw a red Cavalier that [David White] pulled over and yelled at them."⁵ [T. 580.]

According to Charlotte White, David White's wife of over forty (40) years, on the Sunday afternoon the day after David White confronted Chad Booker in the Mustang the Whites came home from church and received two telephone calls from Chad Booker's parents, Buster Booker and Fredia Booker, "[c]oncerning David calling the law to Chad the day before." [T. 304, 309.] Fredia Booker had seen David White stop Chad in the Mustang and had asked Chad about the incident. [T. 672, 699.] Chad's father, a truck driver, was not home at the time, but was in Texas. [T. 699-700.] Charlotte White testified that she and David White "went back to church that night" and that after they returned home later that evening:

We talked about the phone calls that he got the day before; that he needed to apologize to Chad to keep peace in the community because we were neighbors; and he said he probably would apologize, but he didn't know when. He didn't feel that he owed him an apology.

[T. 311.] Charlotte White's testimony was admitted over the objection of Chad Booker. [T. 309-310.] An inconsistency in Charlotte White's testimony is readily apparent in that she first testified that the telephone calls from the Bookers were received on Sunday after church but minutes later Charlotte White testified that the telephone calls had been received "the day before," which would have been on Saturday, the day of the incident. [T. 308-310.] In a statement given to investigating officers, Charlotte White had stated:

⁵On another occasion, a 62-year-old man was accosted by David White at the "Stop" sign on County Road 813 because White felt the man was driving too slow; however, the trial court excluded the testimony regarding this incident which had happened approximately three and one-half years prior to the trial. [T. 716, 719.]

I told David, Well maybe, maybe you need to apologize. You know, it won't hurt anything. Swallow it down and apologize.

[T. 315.] According to Charlotte White, although David White told her he might apologize, she did not know if David White would actually 'swallow it down' and make an apology to Chad Booker because David White did not believe he owed Chad an apology. [T. 314, 315.]

On Monday afternoon, March 12, 2007, Chad Booker went to the Discount Auto Parts store in Ripley at approximately 4:30-5:00, where he visited with the store manager, Rickey Thrasher, as well as with two police officers, Chris McAlister and Pete Samples. [T. 543-544, 577-578.] Chad was driving and showing off a 1960s vintage Ford pick-up which Chad had recently painted University of Tennessee orange and white. [T. 576, 577, 609.] The police officers, McAlister and Samples, told Chad he'd done a "real good job" painting the truck. [T. 578.]

While at the parts store, Thrasher had a conversation with Chad "about how people do these days, how you get along with folks" and Chad told Thrasher about the incident with David White (although, according to Thrasher, Chad never mentioned David White's name and instead only referred to "his neighbor"). [T. 545.] Thrasher testified that during the conversation Chad "never had any ill manner about him whatsoever" and that Chad wasn't "serious about it" but instead thought "[h]ow funny it was somebody would do that." [T. 545.] Thrasher testified that Chad was not upset "at all," and that Chad never 'talked ugly' about David White and did not appear to have any resentment toward David White. [T. 545-546.] Thrasher testified he'd known Chad Booker for "around 20 years probably" and that he'd never heard "a bad word said about him," and that Chad had "always told me the truth." [T. 546.] Thrasher testified that Chad was "happy as a lark when he was at the store." [T. 550.]

After leaving the parts store, Chad Booker went by "the Ford place" to again show off the paint job on the vintage pick-up and then Chad saw Phillip "Possum" Nance at Nance's used car lot

("Southern Discount Motors"), and Chad stopped to visit with Possum Nance. [T. 578.] Possum Nance had known Chad since Chad "was about 16," and Nance had a fatherly, mentor type relationship with Chad. [T. 579.] Nance shared with Chad that he "was having problems with his wife, as usual" and Chad "shared with Mr. Possum that I couldn't understand why Mr. White was so angry and called the law." [T. 579-580.]

Possum Nance died on July 28, 2008, a little more than three months prior to Chad Booker's trial (which began on November 18, 2008).⁶ [T. 343, 519.] Terry Cox, an investigator hired by Chad Booker, conducted a tape-recorded interview of Nance on April 30, 2007, and a redacted transcript of the tape-recorded interview was admitted into evidence as "Defendant's Exhibit # 21."⁷ [T. 520.] Possum Nance knew not only Chad Booker, but also knew David White, whom he had deer hunted with "a few times."⁸ Possum Nance related to Cox that Chad Booker had stopped at his car lot "close to closing time" ("probably 5:00'ish") and that, as Chad was leaving, Chad "told me that somebody had called the police on him."⁹ Nance told Cox:

... [Chad Booker] told me that he was test driving a car that he had out at the shop. I believe he said it was a Mustang that was pretty fast, and had run it up and down the road a couple of times and that David come out in the road to flag him down and kind of jumped on him pretty good about driving the car up and down the road like that.¹⁰

⁶The obituary reporting the death of Phillip "Possum" Nance appeared in the *Northeast Mississippi Daily Journal* on July 30, 2008 (section A , page 4).

⁷A redacted tape recording of the interview with Possum Nance was also received into evidence as "Defendant's Exhibit # 20." [T. 520.] The redactions were a result of the State's objection to character evidence in the statement. See discussion under Issue V, *infra*.

⁸"Defendant's Exhibit # 21," p. 3.

⁹"Defendant's Exhibit # 21," pp. 4, 6.

¹⁰"Defendant's Exhibit # 21," pp. 4-5.

Nance stated Chad “was just matter of factly just small talk carrying on a conversation” and that Chad “[d]idn’t seem agitated at all or anything like that.”¹¹ Nance stated that Chad was ‘bewildered’ as to why David White would call the police, but Nance said Chad was not aggravated or agitated about the incident.¹²

Another statement given by Possum Nance was also received into evidence as “State’s Exhibit # 9” without objection from Chad Booker. [T. 355.] John Hillhouse, a State Trooper assigned to the Mississippi Bureau of Investigation (“M.B.I.”), interviewed Nance on May 3, 2007. [T. 342, 343.] Hillhouse did not make a recording of his interview with Nance, but after the interview Hillhouse prepared a hand-written statement which Nance signed. [T. 344.] In his statement to Hillhouse, Nance said “Chad never made any comments about getting even or threatening Mr. White,” and that “Chad seemed ‘cool as a dollar bill.’”¹³ In the statement by Nance to Hillhouse, Nance purportedly said:

Chad told me that he said I can step out of this car and we can settle this like two men or you can call the law. Chad left and a short time later the law showed up.¹⁴

Chad Booker specifically denied he made the statement “I can step out of this car and we can settle this like two men” to Nance. [T. 573.] In the Nance statement written by Hillhouse, it is reported that “a short time later the law showed up,” but this statement is contradicted by the testimony of Keith White, who testified that no law enforcement officers came out in response to David White’s call and, in fact, the law enforcement officers told David White they would not come out that day. [T. 221.]

¹¹“Defendant’s Exhibit # 21,” p. 5.

¹²“Defendant’s Exhibit # 21,” p. 6.

¹³“State’s Exhibit # 9.”

¹⁴“State’s Exhibit # 9.”

After talking with Possum Nance at around 5:00 p.m. on Monday, March 12, 2007, Chad Booker went home, parked the vintage Ford truck in his carport, and then drove from his house to his shop in his own pick-up, a red Chevrolet Z-71. [T. 581, 582, 584.] At the shop, Chad had a small Nissan pick-up truck parked outside his gate, along side his fence and between the fence and the shallow road ditch, which Chad referred to as his "garbage truck," explaining: "I put my garbage in it and I put it there outside the gate so that we can ... put our garbage in it and stuff."¹⁵ [T. 583.] Although the Nissan truck was between the fence and the road, the truck was on the Booker property and not on the right-of-way of the county road. [T. 583.] Chad testified that the Nissan truck is never locked but that he disconnects the battery cable. [T. 583.]

After arriving at his shop, Chad went out to the Nissan "garbage truck" and raised the hood to connect the battery cable preparing to "pick up the loose garbage," and, while he was doing this, Keith White and David White drove by on County Road 813. [T. 584.] Chad saw the Whites and waved to them as they drove by, and Keith White waved back: "... I knew Mr. Keith [waved] because I made direct eye contact with him, but I do not know if his father did, Mr. David."¹⁶ [T. 584.] Keith White testified that "[b]oth of us waved." [T. 227.] Chad testified, "I was just glad one of them spoke," and explained that later that week he was supposed to take a vehicle to "the car auction" for Keith White. [T. 585.] After the Whites drove by, Chad testified he went back to "picking up my garbage out of the back of the truck." [T. 585.]

¹⁵"State's Exhibit # 2" is a photograph which provides a good depiction of Chad Booker's Nissan "garbage truck" and its location.

¹⁶In the statement Chad Booker gave to investigating officers at 11:03 p.m. on March 12, 2007, Chad stated he and Keith Whites "spoke" to each other. See "State's Exhibit # 12," p. 6. During his testimony, Chad explained that by "spoke" he meant "I threw up my hand" and Keith White threw his hand. [T. 584.]

When the Whites arrived at their ATV shop, they backed into the driveway to unload a four-wheeler they had picked up for repair. [T. 228.] Keith White testified that after unloading the four-wheeler, David White told him he was going to go and apologize to Chad Booker for the confrontation which had occurred on Saturday, March 10, 2007. [T. 228.] According to Keith White, as David White was leaving to go apologize “he was calmer than I would have been.” [T. 228.] David White was known to have a bad temper and to get mad, which was admitted by his wife, Charlotte White, during her testimony.¹⁷ [T. 313.]

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