IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CHAD BOOKER

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-2054

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680 APPELLANT

APPELLEE

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

Booker argues that the trial court was obliged to amend his instructions to conform to the applicable law. However, as argued above, the trial court did instruct the jury as to the defendant's theory of his case, including his defense of justifiability due to acting in self-defense. Booker's jury was properly and fully instructed in the law of justifiable and excusable homicide to the extent that the facts of the case supported such instruction.

This issue is procedurally barred since Booker did not contemporaneously object on the

specific grounds of M.R.E 701 or 702 at trial. Further, should this court reach the merits, it is clear that the question asked of Ms. Morgan was a question that any lay person could answer based on their experience. Here was a man who was completely non-responsive. He did not move or show any signs of life. His head, by all accounts, was badly injured on the left side, swollen, with blood oozing out his ear. The trauma was evident for anyone to see and it was apparent, that after being injured in such a manner, David White was never mobile again. The testimony was also offered by a lay witness, Keith White, and an expert witness, Dr. Steven Hayne, without objection from the defense.

The testimony of Shade White came as no surprise to the defense. Booker was well aware of Shade's existence and his story through the statement of Keith White which was timely and correctly provided by the State to the defense. Further, Booker did not ask for a continuance or a mistrial. The purpose of the rules of discovery is to prevent unfair surprise. There was no unfair surprise as the defense was clearly aware of the substance of the testimony. Further, the defense did cite Rule 9.04 in it's brief and primarily argues that the testimony is irrelevant pursuant to M.R.E. 403.

Under Rule 9.04, Booker was entitled to certain relief if a discovery violation occurred, however, for the testimony to be excluded or, in the alternative, for a proffer or for an opportunity to interview the witness. (Tr.320) The proffer was made and Booker did not ask for any further relief, such as a continuance based on the allegedly surprising testimony. Booker is therefore procedurally barred from this argument on appeal, since at trial he did not ask for the appropriate relief pursuant to Rule 9.04.

The evidence offered by Booker was more prejudicial than probative. It was not

probative as the likelihood that White was the aggressor, since the incident in question did not involve any acts or threats of a violent nature. The only actions on the part of White, according to the proffer of Hogue's testimony, was that he cursed and confronted Hogue about his driving. There was no evidence whatsoever of physical acts or threats against Hogue. The evidence served only to attack White's character for rudeness and use of bad language and did not make it more likely that White was the aggressor.

Booker alleges that the failure of the State to explain exactly how it was going to argue its case relative to the cap, i.e. that the position of the cap was important to its argument, was a clear discovery violation and prosecutorial misconduct. Rule 9.04 certainly does require that physical evidence relevant to the case be disclosed to the defense. In the case at bar, the physical evidence, the cap, and it's position in the vehicle was provided to the defense in two separate reports. The prosecution is not required to disclose it's trial strategy to the defense. The trial court correctly overruled the objection.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court correctly denied Booker's Motion for Directed Verdict at the close of the State's case, the trial court correctly denied Booker's Motion for Acquittal at the close of the defendant's case-in-chief, and the trial court correctly denied Booker's Motion for JNOV.

When reviewing the denial of motion for a directed verdict on an objection to the legal sufficiency of the evidence, Mississippi Appellate Courts examine the evidence in a light most favorable to the State to determine whether "any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (Miss.2005) (citation omitted). A motion

for JNOV challenges the sufficiency of the evidence presented to the jury. McClain v. State, 625 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss, 1993). "[T]he critical inquiry is whether the evidence shows 'beyond a reasonable doubt that [the] accused committed the act charged, and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed." "Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (Miss.2005) (quoting Carr v. State, 208 So.2d 886, 889 (Miss.1968)). An appellate court's standard of review is to analyze "the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, [and decide if] any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. (citations omitted). The appellee receives "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence." McClendon v. State, 852 So.2d 43, 47 (Miss.Ct.App.2002) (citing Baker v. State, 802 So.2d 77, 81(¶ 13) (Miss.1995)). Furthermore, all credible evidence supporting the verdict will be accepted as true. Walker v. State, 881 So.2d 820, 831 (Miss.2004). Mississippi appellate courts will reverse on the issue of legal sufficiency of the evidence when the facts favor the appellant to such an extent that "reasonable men could not have found appellant guilty." McClendon, 852 So.2d at 47. However, appellate courts are required to affirm the judgment of the trial court on the sufficiency of the evidence "where substantial evidence of such quality and weight exists to support the verdict and where reasonable and fair minded jurors may have found appellant guilty." Id.

Alternatively, unlike a motion for JNOV, a motion for a new trial challenges the weight, not the sufficiency, of the evidence. *Purnell v. State*, 878 So.2d 124, 129 (Miss.Ct.App.2004) (citing *Smith v. State*, 802 So.2d 82, 85-86 (Miss.2001)). Appellate courts will review the trial court's denial of a motion for a new trial under an abuse of discretion standard. *Johnson v. State*, 904 So.2d 162, 167 (Miss.2005). Appellate court's "will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d

<u>836, 844 (Miss.2005)</u> (citing *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997)). The evidence will be analyzed "in the light most favorable to the verdict." *Id.*

Booker bases his argument on the *Weathersby* rule, which states: "where the defendant or the defendant's witnesses are the only eyewitnesses to the homicide, their version, if reasonable, must be accepted as true, unless substantially contradicted in material particulars by a credible witness or witnesses for the [S]tate, or by the physical facts or by the facts of common knowledge." <u>Weathersby v. State, 165</u>

Miss. 207, 209, 147 So. 481, 482 (1933).

Booker relies on *Johnson v. State*, 987 So.2d 420 (Miss. 2008) to support the claim that the Weathersby rule should have been applied in his own case. However, the Court in *Johnson* opined:

Conversely, we are fully cognizant that there can be circumstances when the defendant and/or defendant's witnesses are the only eyewitness to the homicide and the *Weathersby* rule would not apply. For example, if the defendant or the defendant's eyewitnesses' testimony satisfies all the elements of murder or manslaughter, the defendant would not be entitled to a directed verdict of acquittal, as their testimony would be the basis for a valid conviction. Furthermore:

this rule has no application where the defendant's version is patently unreasonable, or contradicted by physical facts. Where the defendant is the only eyewitness to a slaying, his version must be reasonable and credible before he is entitled to an acquittal under the rule.

And, there is still another circumstance which still precludes the application of the Weathersby rule, and that is where the accused, following the slaying, gives conflicting versions of how the killing took place, or initially denies the act....

In those cases in which the defendant is the only eyewitness to the slaying, and in which the Weathersby rule is inapplicable (i.e., the defendant does not secure a directed verdict of acquittal), it then becomes a jury issue as to whether to believe or not believe the defendant's testimony of how the slaying occurred, and to either convict or acquit.

Blanks v. State, 547 So.2d 29, 33-34 (Miss.1989) (citations omitted).

In Blanks, the court noted that the Weathersby Rule is not a jury instruction, but a guide for the

circuit judge in determining whether a defendant is entitled to a directed verdict. <u>Id. at 34</u>. It is for the judge to determine whether or not a jury issue has been created. In the case at bar, the trial court considered that Booker's version of the events was "substantially contradicted in material particulars by a credible witness or witnesses for the [S]tate, or by the physical facts or by the facts of common knowledge." The trial court was well within it's discretion in the instant case, to determine that the *Weathersby* rule does not apply.

In response to Booker's Motion for Directed Verdict, the trial court denied the motion, stating, "The Court is of the opinion that the medical personnel that opined that it would be unlikely for Mr. White to have suffered the injuries like he has suffered and to have gotten back into that ATV would have been unlikely contradicts the defendant's version of what happened and the material particulars." The trial court correctly held that a jury issue was created and that the *Weathersby* rule therefore did not apply.

There are numerous physical facts and circumstances inconsistent with the statements and testimony given by Chad Booker. The testimony of Dr. Hayne, a forensic pathologist, established the following facts in substantial and material contradiction to Chad Booker's version of events. The only other injury to Mr. White was a small bruise on the back of the third finger of his right hand which may have occurred at or about the time of death. (Tr. 276)

Dr. Hayne testified that the bleeding both inside and outside of Mr. White's brain was due to force being applied to the left side of the head while it was unsupported. The head would rock back and force and would also twist, tearing the small bridge blood vessels that goes from the inner surface fo the skull to the outer surface of the brain. Once the blood vessels are torn, the start bleeding due to the brain rotated back and forth in the skull. (Tr. 277) The head bouncing back from one side to the other inside the school produced bleeding to the right and left hemisphere. (Tr. 277) The brain rotated and moved back and forth desynchronously from the movement of the head. This was caused by one or more blows to the left side of the head producing slugs of force that created the observed injuries. (Tr. 278)

Dr. Hayne testified that it would be unlikely for a person receiving the blows that caused David White's injuries to remain in a standing position unless he was supported by some means. Dr. Hayne testified that these injuries could be sustained where the torso was seated in a fixed position and the head was unsupported. The person receiving the injuries would be incapacitated very quickly, possibly regain lucidity or consciousness for s short period and then going into unconsciousness or death. (Tr. 282) Dr. Hayne testified that the injuries were consistent with a blow or blows to the head using a fist. (Tr. 286)

Dr. Hayne testified that it would be very unlikely for a person to receive the blows, suffer a concussion and remain on his feet and get back into his vehicle. Dr. Hayne testified that he would not favor that scenario at all. Further, Booker's testimony indicated that he grabbed Mr. White him up close, thus holding him stable. The testimony of Dr. Hayne clearly established that White was unsupported and that his brain and head moved desynchronously causing the severe injuries to his brain. Dr. Hayne testified that the injuries were consistent with the victim being seated in the vehicle with his head unsupported. This is in direct contradiction to Bookers statements and testimony. Dr. Hayne's testimony about the nature of the injuries and the way they were sustained was sufficient to create a jury issue and to take this case outside the realm of Weathersby. The trial court correctly denied Booker's Motions for Directed Verdict, Acquittal and JNOV.

Booker also argues that the State of Mississippi did not meet it's burden to prove that Booker had the intent to kill David White. (Appellant's Brief, p. 27) Booker lists a series of references to the record that he alleges support his argument. However, on review, the State is entitled to all favorable inferences and the testimony is to be viewed in the light most favorable to the State. This selected list of "bits" of testimony taken out of context is inconsistent with the standard of review.

"In determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997) (citing *Thornhill v. State*, 561 So.2d 1025, 1030 (Miss.1989)). During such an inquiry, we afford the State "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." *Griffin v. State*, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss.1992). "There is a presumption that the judgment of the trial court is correct, and the burden is on the appellant to demonstrate some reversible error to this Court." *King v. State*, 857 So.2d 702, 731 (Miss.2003) (citing *Branch v. State*, 347 So.2d 957, 958 (Miss.1977)). Reversal on these grounds is appropriate only when "the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." *Johnson v. State*, 642 So.2d 924, 928 (Miss.1994) (citing *McNeal v. State*, 617 So.2d 999, 1009 (Miss.1993)).

In the instant case, Chad Booker, a weight lifter, using his military training (by his own admission), punched the victim three times in the side of the head around the ear. These punches were so brutal that the blood vessels between the brain and skull were torn by the desynchronous movement of the head and brain. In other words, David White's head rocked back and forth in one direction from the impact of the punches and his brain rocked and rotated within his skull from the impact of the punches. Large quantities of blood pooled and the brain swelled, forcing the herniation of the brain that killed White. These punches were not a "single blow with a fist" nor were these "normal circumstances" where the three punches were delivered in rapid success by a trained soldier in excellent condition. These were killing punches by

someone trained to kill.

Jackson v. State, 594 So.2d 20, 24 (Miss.1992) holds that even bare hands may constitute a deadly weapon if the jury determines them to be a "means likely to produce serious bodily injury." While it is certainly true that an attack with bare hands and closed fists is sufficient to sustain a charge for aggravated assault, such an issue is a matter for a jury to decide and is "to be resolved according to the circumstances of each case." Jackson, 594 So.2d at 23; see also <u>Reynolds v. State</u>, 776 So.2d 698, 700 (Miss.Ct.App.2000) (holding that whether the use of a telephone could constitute a deadly weapon if used with means or force likely to produce death involves a question of fact to be decided by the jury in light of the evidence); <u>Pulliam v. State</u>, 298 So.2d 711, 713 (Miss.1974). Finally, in Pulliam v. State, 298 So.2d

711, 713 (Miss.1974), a case also decided under the former aggravated assault statute, the court held:

While the use of feet and fists ordinarily would not constitute the use of a deadly weapon, they can constitute a deadly weapon if used with means or force likely to produce death. Whether they are so used is for the jury to determine from the evidence.

<u>Id. at 713</u>.

Booker did not at any time ask the trial court for an instruction on the use of fists as a deadly weapon, and in fact, Booker has waived any objection on these grounds. This issue is procedurally barred as it was not raised at trial and the trial court did not have the opportunity to rule on the issue.

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